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I. INTRODUCTION 
1. The Procurement Task Force (“the Task Force”) was created on 12 January 2006 
to address all procurement matters referred to the Office of Internal Oversight Services 
(“OIOS”).  The creation of the Task Force was the result of perceived problems in 
procurement identified by the Independent Inquiry Committee into the Oil-for-Food 
Programme (“IIC”), and the arrest and conviction of Mr. Alexander Yakovlev, a former 
United Nations Procurement Officer. 

2. Under its Terms of Reference, the Task Force operates as part of the OIOS, and 
reports directly to the Under-Secretary-General for the OIOS.1  The remit of the Task 
Force is to investigate all procurement cases, including all matters involving procurement 
bidding exercises, procurement staff and vendors doing business with the United Nations 
(“the United Nations” or “the Organisation”).2  The Task Force investigations have 
focused upon a number of procurement cases, including cases involving companies doing 
business with the Organisation.  Some of these matters are particularly complex and span 
significant periods of time. 

3. This Interim Report focuses on the financial assets obtained by Mr. Yakovlev 
derived through his unlawful pursuits and a fraudulent scheme executed with various 
vendors and vendor intermediaries doing business with the Organisation.  The Report 
also focuses upon entities and individuals which participated with him in his unlawful 
activities to the detriment of the Organisation, and who paid him sums of money in 
connection with his position as a United Nations Procurement Officer.  This Interim 
Report sets forth relevant information and evidence which the Task Force recommends 
be considered by the Organisation in its pursuit to recover the illegal proceeds of Mr. 
Yakovlev’s illicit activities. 

4. The Task Force’s investigation of the matters related to Mr. Yakovlev, including 
his arrangements with the United Nations vendors, is on-going.  The Task Force will 
issue a Final Report on the matters concerning Mr. Yakovlev, which will identify the 
United Nations vendors, vendor representatives, consultants, and intermediaries with 
whom Mr. Yakovlev engaged in corrupt activities in connection with his position with 
the Organisation, and against whom the Organisation should take action as a result of 
their participation in the illegal activities set forth herein.  The Final Report will also 
contain a complete examination and review of Mr. Yakovlev’s arrangements with the 
United Nations vendors and a final assessment of Mr. Yakovlev’s financial assets 
accumulated as a result of his illegal activities. 

                                                 
1 Terms of Reference of the Procurement Task Force (12 January 2006). 
2 Id. 
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II. APPLICABLE UNITED NATIONS STAFF 
REGULATIONS AND RULES 
5. The following provisions of the Staff Regulations of the United Nations (“the 
Staff Regulations”) are relevant:3 

(i) Regulation 1.2(b): “Staff members shall uphold the highest standards of 
efficiency, competence and integrity.  The concept of integrity includes, but is not limited 
to, probity, impartiality, fairness, honesty and truthfulness in all matters affecting their 
work and status.”4 

(ii) Regulation 1.2(e): “By accepting appointment, staff members pledge 
themselves to discharge their functions and regulate their conduct with the interests of the 
Organization only in view.  Loyalty to the aims, principles and purposes of the United 
Nations, as set forth in its Charter, is a fundamental obligation of all staff members by 
virtue of their status as international civil servants.”5 

(iii) Regulation 1.2(g): “Staff members shall not use their office or knowledge 
gained from their official functions for private gain, financial or otherwise, or for the 
private gain of any third party, including family, friends and those they favour.”6 

(iv) Regulation 1.2(i): “Staff members shall exercise the utmost discretion 
with regard to all matters of official business.  They shall not communicate to any 
Government, entity, person or any other source any information known to them by reason 
of their official position that they know or ought to have known has not been made 
public, except as appropriate in the normal course of their duties or by authorization of 
the Secretary-General.”7 

(v) Regulation 1.2(l): “No staff member shall accept any honour, decoration, 
favour, gift or remuneration from any non-governmental source without first obtaining 
the approval of the Secretary-General.”8 

6. The following provision of the Staff Rules of the United Nations is relevant: 

(i) Rule 112.3: “Any staff member may be required to reimburse the United 
Nations either partially or in full for any financial loss suffered by the United Nations as a 

                                                 
3 ST/SGB/2006/4 (1 January 2006) (containing revised edition of the Staff Regulations).  Throughout this 
Report, references to earlier editions of the Staff Regulations will be made where applicable. 
4 ST/SGB/2006/4, reg. 1.2(b) (1 January 2006).  This is a long-standing provision of the Staff Regulations.  
See, e.g., ST/SGB/1999/5, reg. 1.2(b) (3 June 1999). 
5 ST/SGB/2006/4, reg. 1.2(e) (1 January 2006).  This is a long-standing provision of the Staff Regulations.  
See, e.g., ST/SGB/1999/5, reg. 1.2(e) (3 June 1999). 
6 ST/SGB/2006/4, reg. 1.2(g) (1 January 2006).  This is a long-standing provision of the Staff Regulations.  
See, e.g., ST/SGB/1999/5, reg. 1.2(g) (3 June 1999). 
7 ST/SGB/2006/4, reg. 1.2(i) (1 January 2006).  This is a long-standing provision of the Staff Regulations.  
See, e.g., ST/SGB/1999/5, reg. 1.2(l) (3 June 1999). 
8 ST/SGB/2006/4, reg. 1.2(l) (1 January 2006).  This is a long-standing provision of the Staff Regulations.  
See, e.g., ST/SGB/1999/5, reg. 1.2(l) (3 June 1999). 
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result of the staff member’s negligence or of his or her having violated any regulation, 
rule or administrative instruction.”9 

7. The following provisions of the Financial Rules and Regulations of the United 
Nations are relevant: 

(i) Regulation 5.12: “The following general principles shall be given due 
consideration when exercising the procurement functions of the United Nations: 

(a) Best value for money; 

(b) Fairness, integrity and transparency; 

(c) Effective international competition; 

(d) The interest of the United Nations.”10 

(ii) Rule 105.14: “[P]rocurement contracts shall be awarded on the basis of 
effective competition.”11 

8. The following provisions of the United Nations Procurement Manual are 
relevant:12 

(i) Section 4.1.5(4)(a): “UN staff shall not allow any Vendor(s) access to 
information on a particular acquisition before such information is available to the 
business community at large.”13 

(ii)  Section 4.2(1): “It is of overriding importance that the staff member 
acting in an official procurement capacity should not be placed in a position where their 
actions may constitute or could be reasonably perceived as reflecting favourable 
treatment to an individual or entity by accepting offers or gifts and hospitality or other 
similar considerations.”14 

(iii) Section 4.2(2): “It is inconsistent that a Procurement Officer . . . accepts 
any gift from any outside source regardless of the value and regardless of whether the 
outside source is or is not soliciting business with the United Nations.  All staff members 
involved in procurement shall decline offers of gifts.”15 

                                                 
9 ST/SGB/2002/1 (1 January 2002). 
10 Financial Rules and Regulations of the United Nations, ST/SGB/2003/07, reg. 5.12 (9 May 2003). 
11 Id., rule 105.14. 
12 United Nations Procurement Manual, Rev. 3 (August 2006) (hereinafter “2006 Procurement Manual”); 
United Nations Procurement Manual Rev. 2 (January 2004) (hereinafter “2004 Procurement Manual”). 
13 2006 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.1.5(4)(a).  Previous editions of the Procurement Manual contained 
similar provisions.  See, e.g., 2004 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.1.5(4)(a). 
14 2006 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.2(1).  Previous editions of the Procurement Manual contained similar 
provisions.  See, e.g., 2004 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.2.1(1). 
15 2006 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.2(2).  Previous editions of the Procurement Manual contained similar 
provisions.  See, e.g., 2004 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.2.1(2). 
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(iv) Section 4.3(2)(a): “‘Bribery’ means the act of unduly offering, giving, 
receiving or soliciting anything of value to influence the process of procuring goods or 
services, or executing contracts.”16 

(v) Section 4.3(2)(c): “‘Fraud’ means the misrepresentation of information or 
facts for the purpose of influencing the process of procuring goods or services, or 
executing contracts, to the detriment of the UN or other participants.”17 

(vi) Section 4.3(3)(b): “The UN . . . [w]ill declare a firm ineligible, either 
indefinitely or for a stated period of time, to become a UN registered Vendor if it at any 
time determines that the firm has engaged in corrupt practices in competing for or in 
executing a UN Contract.”18 

(vii) Section 4.3(3)(c): “The UN . . . [w]ill cancel or terminate a contract if it 
determines that a Vendor has engaged in corrupt practices in competing for or in 
executing a UN Contract.”19 

(viii) Section 7.12.2(1)(a): “The criteria for suspension or removal from the 
Vendor Database . . . [includes] [f]ailure to perform in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of one or more contract[s] . . . and [a]busive, unethical or unprofessional 
conduct, including corrupt practices and submission of false information.”20 

9. The following provisions of the United Nations General Conditions of 
Contract are relevant: 

(i) Article 2.0: “The Contractor shall refrain from any action that may 
adversely affect the United Nations and shall fulfill its commitments with the fullest 
regard to the interests of the Untied Nations.”21 

(ii) Article 6.0: “The Contractor warrants that no official of the United 
Nations has received or will be offered by the Contractor any direct or indirect benefit 
arising from this Contract or the award thereof.  The Contractor agrees that breach of this 
provision is a breach of an essential term of this Contract.”22 

                                                 
16 2006 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.3(2)(a).  Previous editions of the Procurement Manual contained 
similar provisions.  See, e.g., 2004 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.2.5(2)(i). 
17 2006 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.3(2)(c).  Previous editions of the Procurement Manual contained 
similar provisions.  See, e.g., 2004 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.2.5(2)(iii). 
18 2006 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.3(3)(b).  Previous editions of the Procurement Manual contained 
similar provisions.  See, e.g., 2004 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.2.5(3)(ii). 
19 2006 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.3(3)(c).  Previous editions of the Procurement Manual contained 
similar provisions.  See, e.g., 2004 Procurement Manual, sec. 4.2.5(3)(iii). 
20 2006 Procurement Manual, sec. 7.12.2(1)(a).  Previous editions of the Procurement Manual contained 
similar provisions.  See, e.g., 2004 Procurement Manual, sec. 7.12.2(1)(a)(iv). 
21 2006 Procurement Manual, United Nations General Conditions of Contract, art. 2.0.  This is a long-
standing provision of the General Conditions of Contract.  See, e.g., United Nations Procurement Manual, 
United Nations General Conditions of Contract, art. 2.0 (31 March 1998) (hereinafter “1998 Procurement 
Manual”) 
22 2006 Procurement Manual, United Nations General Conditions of Contract, art. 6.0.  This is a long-
standing provision of the General Conditions of Contract.  See, e.g., 1998 Procurement Manual, United 
Nations General Conditions of Contract, art. 6.0. 
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III. RELEVANT CONCEPTS OF CRIMINAL LAW 
10. Some of the well-established concepts of common law are applicable to this 
Interim Report, including: 

(i) Fraud: Commonly, fraud is defined as an unlawful scheme to obtain 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretences, representations, or 
promises.  A scheme to defraud is any plan, device, or course of action to obtain money 
or property by means of false or fraudulent pretences, representations or promises 
reasonably calculated to deceive persons of average prudence; 

(ii) Conspiracy: Conspiracy is an agreement to do an unlawful act.  It is a 
mutual understanding, either spoken or unspoken, between two or more people to 
cooperate with each other to accomplish an unlawful act.  In this case, it is the agreement 
to engage in a scheme to improperly obtain sums of money under contracts with the 
United Nations not properly due and owing to them; and 

(iii) Aiding and Abetting an Offence: Under the concept of aiding and 
abetting, the offence is committed by another.  In order to aid and abet a crime, it is 
necessary that an individual associate himself in some way with the crime, and that he 
participate in the crime by doing some act to help make the crime succeed.  A person who 
aids and abets another to commit a criminal offence is equally as culpable as if the person 
committed the offence himself. 

11. If any evidence of bribery or fraud or other criminal offense is revealed during the 
course of the Task Force’s investigations, a referral to the appropriate prosecutorial 
agency will be recommended. 

IV. METHODOLOGY 
12. The Task Force’s investigation of the matters pertaining to the scheme to provide 
Mr. Yakovlev with sums of money in connection with his role as a procurement official 
within the United Nations has included interviews with numerous witnesses, the review 
and analysis of a significant number of documents, and extensive examination of 
electronic media and evidence.  The Task Force made significant efforts to locate and 
obtain all relevant files.  Furthermore, the Task Force has engaged in an extensive 
process of obtaining and examining significant volumes of records and information from 
a number of the United Nations vendors. 

13. The Task Force’s investigation of the complex international financial transactions 
which permeated the scheme has faced a number of challenges, including the need to 
obtain and reconstruct relevant data, the lack of compulsory process outside of the United 
Nations system and ability to issue subpoenas, limited cooperation from relevant parties, 
and the fact that several key witnesses with knowledge of the events discussed herein 
could not be located or would not agree to an interview. 

14. Subsequent to Mr. Yakovlev’s resignation on 21 June 2005, he was arrested and 
pleaded guilty to conspiracy, wire fraud, and money-laundering charges in the United 
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States District Court, Southern District of New York, stemming from investigations into 
the Oil-for-Food Programme.23  The investigations by IIC and the United States 
Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York revealed that since 2000, 
substantial amounts of money had been wired into an account controlled by Mr. 
Yakovlev, in the name of “Moxyco Ltd.” at the Antigua Overseas Bank, Antigua and 
Barbuda.24  IIC further established that a number of United Nations contractors and Mr. 
Yakovlev engaged in a continuous course of conduct to provide sums of money to Mr. 
Yakovlev in connection with his position as a United Nations procurement official.25 

15. As part of his guilty plea, Mr. Yakovlev entered into a cooperation agreement 
with the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York.26  Under 
this agreement, Mr. Yakovlev agreed to forfeit US$900,000 to the United States 
government.  Mr. Yakovlev is required to offer all assistance to the United States 
authorities in their on-going investigations.27 

 
. . . 

 

Figure: Alexander Yakovlev Cooperation Agreement, pp. 2-3 (8 August 2005) 

16. Most recently, Mr. Yakovlev testified during a federal criminal trial of Mr. 
Vladimir Kuznetsov, a former Chairman of the United Nations Advisory Committee and 
Administrative and Budgetary Questions.28  Mr. Kuznetsov’s trial focused on the illegal 
arrangements put in place by Mr. Yakovlev with the assistance of Mr. Kuznetsov with a 
                                                 
23 Alexander Yakovlev letter to Andrew Toh (21 June 2005).  In his letter, Mr. Yakovlev stated: “In view of 
the latest allegations involving my violating of the applicable Staff Rules and in order to protect integrity, 
reputation and the interest of the Organization, I hereby respectfully submit my resignation effective 
immediately”.  Id.  Mr. Yakovlev’s resignation was accepted next day.  Andrew Toh letter to Alexander 
Yakovlev (22 June 2005). 
24 Independent Inquiry Committee into the Oil-for-Food Programme, “Third Interim Report,” p. 65 (8 
August 2005). 
25 Id. 
26 Alexander Yakovlev Cooperation Agreement (8 August 2005). 
27 Id., pp. 2-3. 
28 Unites States v. Vladimir Kuznetsov, trial transcript (SDNY 2007) (hereinafter “Vladimir Kuznetsov trial 
transcript”). 
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number of United Nations vendors.  On 7 March 2007, a jury in the United States District 
Court, Southern District of New York convicted Mr. Kuznetsov of conspiring to commit 
money laundering.29 

17. Mr. Yakovlev’s testimony under oath during the trial of Mr. Kuznetsov provides 
strong evidence of Mr. Yakovlev’s and Mr. Kuznetsov’s illegal activities and is 
incorporated into this Interim Report.  During Mr. Kuznetsov’s trial, Mr. Yakovlev 
acknowledged that he provided assistance to Cogim S.p.A. (“Cogim”), Corimec Italiana 
S.p.A. (“Corimec”), Avicos, Volga-Dnepr Airlines (“Volga-Dnepr”), and Société 
Générale de Surveillance S.A. (“SGS”), all companies doing business, or seeking to do 
business, with the United Nations.30  The Final Report on the matters concerning Mr. 
Yakovlev will contain further information with regard to Mr. Yakovlev’s scheme and the 
entities and individuals involved. 

V. OVERVIEW OF ALEXANDER YAKOVLEV SCHEME 
AND PAYMENTS 

A. ALEXANDER YAKOVLEV ROLE AS A PROCUREMENT OFFICER 
18. The United Nations Procurement Service (“the Procurement Service”) facilitates 
the acquisition of various goods and services needed by other departments of the 
Organisation, including the necessary equipment and services to perform their duties.31  
These goods and services are purchased from the companies registered as United Nations 
vendors, through the competitive bidding exercises conducted by the Procurement 
Service.32 

19. Mr. Yakovlev joined the United Nations as a Procurement Officer in August 
1985.33  During his 20-year tenure with the Procurement Service, Mr. Yakovlev was 
involved in a wide range of procurement exercises involving a variety of goods, including 
a “whole list of possible commodities and services.”34  However, in the last years of his 
service Mr. Yakovlev primarily dealt with the supplies for the United Nations 

                                                 
29 Christine Kearney, “Russian U.N. diplomat guilty of money laundering,” Reuters, 7 March 2007. 
30 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 127-34, 142-48, 150-54 (27 
February 2007). 
31 Id., p. 123; 2006 Procurement Manual.  Prior to August 2004, the Procurement Service was known as the 
Procurement Division.  Joan McDonald memorandum to Andrew Toh (27 August 2004) (renaming the 
Procurement Division into the Procurement Service).  However, for purposes of this Report, the 
Procurement Division and the Procurement Service are referred to collectively as “the Procurement 
Service.” 
32 Financial Rules and Regulations of the United Nations, ST/SGB/2003/07, rule 105.14 (9 May 2003) 
(“procurement contracts shall be awarded on the basis of effective competition”); 2006 Procurement 
Manual; Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 123 (27 February 2007). 
33 Alexander Yakovlev Personnel Arrival Advice (22 August 1985); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, 
Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 122 (27 February 2007). 
34 Id., p. 124. 
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peacekeeping operations, such as food rations for troops, fuel, lubricants, and security 
equipment.35 

20. During his tenure with the Procurement Service, Mr. Yakovlev also acted as a 
case Procurement Officer overseeing a significant number of procurement exercises for 
various United Nations contracts, and was responsible for communicating with vendors 
on behalf of the Organisation.  With regard to the procurement exercises that he was 
assigned as a case Procurement Officer, Mr. Yakovlev was responsible for preparing and 
distributing bidding documents and participating in the evaluation of the submitted 
proposals.36 

21. The evaluation of bids submitted by vendors is a multi-step process.  It includes 
the submission of financial and technical evaluations, and consists of the examination of 
the company’s compliance with various contract proposal requirements.37  Generally, the 
company offering the lowest cost proposal and the most technically acceptable bid is 
awarded the contract.38  However, the procurement rules provide that if any proposal 
does not conform to the requirements of the technical specifications or proposal 
guidelines, such proposals can be rejected by the Procurement Service irrespective of the 
fact that the company nevertheless offered the lowest price.39  Therefore, it is critically 
important for companies bidding on United Nations contracts to ensure that their contract 
proposals comply with the bid requirements.40 

B. OVERVIEW OF ALEXANDER YAKOVLEV SCHEME AND 
FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS 
22. The scheme addressed herein began in early 1990s and continued through and up 
until Mr. Yakovlev’s resignation and arrest in 2005.  Some of Mr. Yakovlev’s activities 
were already discussed in the Task Force’s Report on Eurest Support Services (Cyprus) 
International, IHC Services Inc., and Certain United Nations Staff Members (“ESS 
Report”).41  As was discussed in the ESS Report and will be further addressed in the 
subsequent report on Mr. Yakovlev, this assistance included, inter alia, providing 
confidential United Nations documents and information to the United Nations vendors; 
improperly assisting selected United Nations vendors in preparing their contract 
proposals; tampering with the results of the financial evaluations; adjusting contract 
proposals after the official submission to ensure that the contract award would be steered 
                                                 
35 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 124 (27 February 2007); 
Alexander Yakovlev deposition (23 March 2006). 
36 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 123-26 (27 February 2007);  
37 Id., p. 125. 
38 Financial Rules and Regulations of the United Nations, ST/SGB/2003/07, rules 105.14, 105.15 (9 May 
2003); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 123-27 (27 February 2007). 
39 2006 Procurement Manual, rules 9.9.24(3), 10.1.5(1), 10.3.3(1)(c)(ii), 10.3.3.(i)(d)(iii), 10.4(4), 
10.5.1(2), 11.4(1), 11.5(1), 11.6.9(1), 11.6.9(2), 11.6.10(1); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander 
Yakovlev testimony, p. 126 (27 February 2007). 
40 Id., p. 126. 
41 Procurement Task Force, Report on Eurest Support Services (Cyprus) International, IHC Services Inc., 
and Certain United Nations Staff Members (7 December 2006). 
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towards a particular company; and favoring selected companies during the execution of 
their contracts to the detriment of the Organisation.  In return, these vendors paid Mr. 
Yakovlev sums of money which were often paid into secret off-shore bank accounts in 
the names of entities established to further the scheme.  Two of these accounts were 
established in the names of Moxyco Ltd. (“Moxyco”) and Nikal Ltd. (“Nikal”). 

23. Several major United Nations vendors participated in the scheme, including ESS, 
a United Nations vendor which received more than US$234 million from the United 
Nations in connection with nine major food rations contracts;42 IHC, a registered vendor 
since 1996 which received more than US$15 million from the United Nations;43 Volga-
Dnepr Airlines (Russia) and Volga-Dnepr Airlines (Ireland), United Nations vendors 
since 1996 and 2000, respectively, which received more than US$134 million from the 
United Nations;44 and Cogim, a company which received more than US$13 million in 
payments from the United Nations.45  Several other companies will also be discussed in 
the forthcoming Final Report. 

24. During Mr. Kuznetsov’s trial, Mr. Yakovlev testified under oath that he received 
“[j]ust over [US]$1 million” for the assistance he provided to these vendors.46  The Task 
Force’s investigation has revealed that Mr. Yakovlev’s scheme generated more than 
US$3.5 million from various sources, including a number of United Nations vendors.47  
These transfers were made into the bank accounts of Nikal, a company controlled by Mr. 
Kuznetsov, and Moxyco, the company Mr. Yakovlev created to facilitate this scheme.  
Additionally, there is evidence that certain payments were made to Mr. Yakovlev in cash 
and into his other accounts, particularly in early 1990s, which will be addressed in the 
Final Report. 

25. The amount in excess of US$3.5 million paid to Moxyco and Nikal included more 
than US$2.4 million from entities and individuals associated with Cogim, Volga-Dnepr, 
and Avicos, as well as over US$1 million from unknown sources, including a company 
called Avialiber.48  The arrangements that these companies maintained with Mr. 
Yakovlev will be addressed in detail in the Final Report on Mr. Yakovlev.  For the 
purposes of this Interim Report, the Task Force has established that the payments to 
Moxyco and Nikal were made through various entities and individuals, including Mr. 
Leopoldo Braghieri, the then owner of Cogim, on behalf of his company; Volga-Dnepr’s 

                                                 
42 Id., p. 11. 
43 Id., p. 13. 
44 United Nations Vendor Listing, Volga-Dnepr Airlines (6 March 2006) (showing that Volga-Dnepr 
Airlines was registered as a United Nations vendor on 10 July 1996); Kiyohiro Mitsui letter to Volga-
Dnepr Airlines (Ireland) (14 August 2000) (informing the company of its vendor registration application 
was approved); ProcurePlus Database, Reports on Volga-Dnepr Airlines (Russia) and Volga-Dnepr 
Airlines (Ireland) (19 March 2007). 
45 ProcurePlus Database, Report on Cogim (19 March 2007). 
46 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 154, 165 (27 February 2007). 
47 Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account records (June 2000 to July 2005); Antigua Overseas Bank, 
Moxyco account records (February 2000 to July 2005). 
48 Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account records (June 2000 to July 2005); Antigua Overseas Bank, 
Moxyco account records (February 2000 to July 2005). 
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offices in Ireland and ICT USA, Volga-Dnepr’s consultants, on behalf of Volga-Dnepr; 
and Solitaire Nominees and Westminster International, two off-shore companies 
associated with the senior managers of Avicos, on behalf of Avicos.49 

26. Chart A below contains a summary of the payments made into the accounts of 
Moxyco and Nikal.  The number of individual transfers composing each of the total 
amounts is provided in parenthesis preceding each of the total amounts.  The forthcoming 
Final Report will contain detailed assessments and descriptions of the payments for each 
of the companies that had arrangements with Mr. Yakovlev. 

Chart A: Overview of Payments to Moxyco and Nikal (2000-2005)50 

 

                                                 
49 Leopoldo Braghieri interview (29 March 2007); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev 
testimony, pp. 143-54 (27 February 2007); Alexander Yakovlev deposition (23 March 2006); Alexander 
Yakovlev interviews (16 and 17 August and 28 September 2005); OIOS mission analysis report (12 
September 2005); Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account records (June 2000 to July 2005); Antigua 
Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (February 2000 to July 2005). 
50 Id.; Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account records (June 2000 to July 2005); Confidential source report 
(23 April 2007).  The amounts provided in this Chart are rounded.  The Final Report will contain updated 
transfer amounts based on the additional bank records. 



OIOS PROCUREMENT TASK FORCE 
INTERIM REPORT ON ALEXANDER YAKOVLEV 
REDACTED AND STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PAGE 11 

1. Alexander Yakovlev Financial Motives 
27. Mr. Yakovlev’s unlawful agreements with these United Nations vendors were 
part of his efforts to obtain money and tangible benefits through his activities as a United 
Nations Procurement Officer.  Between January 2000, when Moxyco was established, 
and June 2005, when Mr. Yakovlev resigned from the Organisation as a result of the 
identification of his scheme, Mr. Yakovlev’s gross legal annual earnings as a United 
Nations staff member were between US$128,000 and US$165,000, a third of which went 
towards his staff assessment and pension contributions.51  Mr. Yakovlev’s wife, Mrs. 
Olga Yakovlev, received a salary of US$180 to US$300 a month as a teacher at the 
Russian International School in New York.52  Mr. Yakovlev’s son, Mr. Dmitry Yakovlev, 
was a student at New York University and did not report a regular source of income.53 

28. Mr. Yakovlev carefully presented himself as a man of modest means, and did not 
flaunt the excesses he received from his corrupt activities.54  As Mr. Yakovlev explained, 
there were two main reasons he did not expose his new found wealth.55  First, he tried to 
“avoid exposure with additional expenses, which could attract a lot of attention from 
others, in particular the Russian community in Riverdale, because [they] all lived in a 
relatively close area.”56  Secondly, Mr. Yakovlev tried to limit his expenditures because 
he planned to “retire from the UN much earlier even than the early retirement, and to 
establish business in Russia.”57  The Task Force has previously reported on some of Mr. 
Yakovlev’s efforts to explore business opportunities jointly with Mr. Testa of IHC 
Services.58  Nevertheless, Mr. Yakovlev made purchases described in the next paragraph, 
and was found with more than US$50,000 cash in a safe in his home.  This cash was 
identified during the search of Mr. Yakovlev’s premises carried out by the New York 
County District Attorney’s Office on 1 August 2005. 

29. According to Mr. Yakovlev, he used approximately US$150,000 of his illegal 
proceeds to pay off the mortgage on his house in Yonkers, New York.59  Mr. Yakovlev 
also used some of the money collected into his Moxyco account to make “a personal loan 
to [his] friend, Mr. Vladimir Kuznetsov,” for the purchase of a house in a prestigious 
Moscow suburb.60  Furthermore, Mr. and Mrs. Yakovlev purchased a new apartment in 
                                                 
51 Certificate of Incorporation of Moxyco Ltd. (4 January 2000); Alexander Yakovlev letter to Andrew Toh 
(21 June 2005); Alexander Yakovlev Personnel File, Personnel Action Forms (1 January 2000 and 21 June 
2005); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 154-55 (27 February 2007). 
52 Id., p. 155; Alexander Yakovlev interview (20 June 2005). 
53 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 121, 155 (27 February 2007). 
54 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 155, 241 (27 and 28 February 
2007). 
55 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 155 (27 February 2007). 
56 Id. 
57 Id., pp. 155-56. 
58 ESS Report, pp. 36-37.  During the trial of Mr. Kuznetsov, Mr. Yakovlev confirmed discussing a joint 
business venture with Mr. Testa.  Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 
254 (28 February 2007). 
59 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 156 (27 February 2007). 
60 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 157, 180, 250 (27 and 28 
February 2007). 
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Moscow for over US$300,000, a custom-made 2003 Mercedes-Benz for over US$80,000 
and a 1993 BMW for approximately US$20,000.61 

30. Mr. Yakovlev admitted under oath that he subsequently transferred some of his 
illicit proceeds to his bank accounts in Switzerland, Austria, and Liechtenstein based on 
“the advice [he] received from Maritime [Industries], the company [which] assisted [him] 
in opening [Moxyco’s] account.”62  Maritime Industries suggested to Mr. Yakovlev that 
“money should not sit too long in [an] offshore bank because offshore banks are not very 
stable.”63  Mr. Yakovlev’s bank accounts in Europe are discussed below. 

2. Alexander Yakovlev Corrupt Efforts 
31. Mr. Yakovlev generally described his services as “assisting companies in 
preparing the bids in terms of ensuring that the bids are fully compliant with procedural, 
general and substantive requirements of the bid.”64  As a seasoned Procurement Service 
officer, Mr. Yakovlev fully understood the importance of complying with the contract 
proposal requirements.  The significance of proper proposal submission was explained by 
Mr. Yakovlev in his written deposition to the prosecutorial authorities:65 

 

Figure: Alexander Yakovlev deposition (23 March 2006) (signed by Mr. Yakovlev) 

32. As will be fully discussed in the Final Report, Mr. Yakovlev assisted a number of 
vendors in preparation of their contract proposals, thus providing them with an unfair 
advantage in the bidding process, and severely compromising the integrity of the bidding 
process and the reputation of the Organisation.  Furthermore, with regard to the selection 
process for the contracts that he was assigned to as the case Procurement Officer, Mr. 
Yakovlev admitted to being directly involved in the selection process of these 
companies:66 

                                                 
61 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 156 (27 February 2007); 
Alexander Yakovlev interview (28 September 2005); Alexander Yakovlev letters to European Trust Bank 
(Russia) (11 September 2003); LexisNexis Reports, New York Motor Vehicle Registration Report on 
Alexander Yakovlev (25 April 2007) (showing 2003 Mercedes-Benz E55 AMG and 1993 BMW registered 
in the name of Mr. Yakovlev); Confidential source report (26 April 2007).  Mr. Yakovlev purchased the 
1993 BMW from Mr. Testa of IHC for US$20,000.  Alexander Yakovlev interview (28 September 2005).  
Mr. Testa had found the “car of [Mr. Yakovlev’s] dreams” in Spain and shipped it to New York for him.  
Id.  However, Mr. Yakovlev had to sell it shortly thereafter as it “started falling apart.”  Vladimir 
Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 156 (27 February 2007). 
62 Id., pp. 156-57. 
63 Id., p. 157. 
64 Id., p. 126. 
65 Alexander Yakovlev deposition (23 March 2006). 
66 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 129-30 (27 February 2007). 
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Figure: Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 129-30 (27 
February 2007) 

33. In fact, as was already addressed in the ESS Report and will be further discussed 
in the Task Force’s upcoming Final Report, Mr. Yakovlev engaged in corrupting, and 
attempting to corrupt, the contract selection process during several procurement 
exercises, by favouring certain United Nations vendors. 

34. Notably, Mr. Yakovlev has denied assisting any United Nations vendors with 
prices for their contract proposals—an assertion with which the Task Force disagrees.67  
In at least two instances—with regard to ESS and Société Générale de Surveillance S.A. 
(“SGS”)—the Task Force’s investigation has established that Mr. Yakovlev engaged in 
assisting the vendors with pricing determination. 

35. During his trial testimony, Mr. Yakovlev admitted that he fully understood the 
illegality of his arrangements with the United Nations vendors. Mr. Yakovlev 
acknowledged that he had engaged in wire fraud and money laundering and described the 
preferential treatment and special assistance he provided to some of the United Nations 
vendors as “outside of [his] direct UN responsibilities and, therefore, . . . illegal”:68 

                                                 
67 Id., p. 126 (stating that “price is outside of [his] expertise” and “[i]f [the companies] make it to financial 
evaluation, they had to win it on their own”). 
68 Id., pp. 127, 164. 
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Figure: Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 127 (27 
February 2007) 

36. Mr. Yakovlev further admitted that by providing his services to certain United 
Nations vendors, he violated his oath and obligation to maintain neutrality in the bid 
selection process, and as a result of his actions the Organisation “was deprived of [his] 
duty of loyalty to the [Organisation].”69 

C. BANK ACCOUNTS ASSOCIATED WITH ALEXANDER YAKOVLEV 
37. In execution of his illegal scheme, Mr. Yakovlev and Mr. Kuznetsov utilized a 
number of bank accounts in several countries.  Chart B below provides an overview of 
the accounts associated with Mr. Yakovlev and Mr. Kuznetsov and the distribution of the 
financial assets accumulated by Moxyco and Nikal.  The number of individual transfers 
composing each of the total amounts is provided in parenthesis preceding each of the 
total amounts. 

Chart B: Overview of Alexander Yakovlev and Vladimir Kuznetsov Accounts70 

                                                 
69 Id., p. 127. 
70 Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (February 2000 to July 2005); Antigua Overseas Bank, 
Nikal account records (June 2000 to July 2005).  The amounts provided in this Chart are rounded.  The 
Final Report will contain updated transfer amounts based on the additional bank records. 
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38. Both the bank accounts associated with Mr. Yakovlev and Mr. Kuznetsov and the 
relevant financial transactions into these accounts are discussed more fully below.  The 
Final Report will contain updated transfer amounts based on the additional bank records. 

1. Moxyco Antigua Overseas Bank Account 
39. Moxyco was incorporated by Mr. Yakovlev on 4 January 2000 in Saint Vincent 
and the Grenadines, an island nation located in the Caribbean Sea.71  Mr. Yakovlev chose 
this location based on a recommendation he received from Maritime International, a 
company he found on the Internet when he was looking for someone to assist him in 
opening an off-shore account and establishing an off-shore corporation.72  With the 
assistance of Maritime Industries, Mr. Yakovlev created Moxyco, and identified 
members of the Board of Directors who exercised no de facto authority, including 
Ms. Laura Mouck, a purported employee of Maritime Industries.73  Ms. Mouck’s 
position was ceremonial and Moxyco’s incorporation records were stored in a safe in 
Mr. Yakovlev’s house.74  All members of Mr. Yakovlev’s family—Mr. Alexander 
Yakovlev, his son, and his wife—held a power of attorney, and were authorized to 
conduct transactions on behalf of Moxyco:75 

 

Figure: Moxyco Appointment of Bankers (undated) 

40. Mr. Yakovlev, through Moxyco, opened a bank account with the Antigua 
Overseas Bank.76  This bank was suggested to Mr. Yakovlev by Maritime International.  
Mr. Yakovlev explained that he wanted to have an off-shore account “for the same reason 
[he] wanted to have a corporation [off-]shore, . . . [namely] to hide . . . the incoming 
funds.”77  He intended to use this off-shore company and the off-shore account to “hide 

                                                 
71 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 148 (27 February 2007); 
Certificate of Incorporation of Moxyco Ltd. (4 January 2000).  As was explained by Mr. Yakovlev, he 
created the name “Moxyco” by using the letters of his wife’s, his son’s and his own names.  Vladimir 
Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 149 (27 February 2007). 
72 Id., p. 148. 
73 Alexander Yakovlev interview (16 and 17 August 2005). 
74 Id. 
75 Moxyco Appointment of Bankers (undated) (signed by Ms. Mouck); Moxyco Powers of Attorney (4 
January 2000) (issued in the names of Mr. Alexander Yakovlev, Mr. Dmitry Yakovlev, and Mrs. Yakovlev 
and signed by Ms. Mouck); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 150 (27 
February 2007). 
76 Id., p. 149; Moxyco Appointment of Bankers (undated). 
77 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 149-50 (27 February 2007). 
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the actual . . . source of incoming funds . . . [b]ecause the services against which the 
money [was] received were performed illegally.”78 

41. Mr. Yakovlev accessed his Moxyco bank account information over the telephone 
using a password and specifically instructed the Antigua Overseas Bank not to send him 
any bank statements or any other correspondence.79  Mr. Yakovlev explained that the 
purpose of these actions was to “limit the exposure and [his] connection to Moxyco.”80 

42. Based on the bank records obtained by the Task Force, between February 2000 
and July 2005, Moxyco received more than US$2.6 million from various sources, 
including a number of United Nations vendors.81 

a. Ekati Trading Account at Hellenic Bank Ltd. 
43. On 22 June 2005—just one day after submitting his letter of resignation from the 
United Nations—Mr. Yakovlev sent a facsimile to the Antigua Overseas Bank, stating 
that he “hereby close[s] [his] account with AOB effective immediately.” He then 
requested that the remaining funds be transferred to a Cyprus bank account of Ekati 
Trading Co. Ltd. (“Ekati Trading”) at Hellenic Bank Ltd.:82 

                                                 
78 Id., pp. 148-49. 
79 Alexander Yakovlev deposition (23 March 2006); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander 
Yakovlev testimony, p. 150 (27 February 2007). 
80 Id. 
81 Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (February 2000 to July 2005). 
82 Alexander Yakovlev letter to Antigua Overseas Bank (22 June 2005); Alexander Yakovlev letter to 
Andrew Toh (21 June 2005). 
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Figure: Alexander Yakovlev letter to Antigua Overseas Bank (22 June 2005) 

44. Ekati Trading is a Cyprus-based company owned by Mr. Mikhail Kochetkov, a 
friend of Mr. Yakovlev.  Mr. Kochetkov has been identified as being associated with 
Avicos, one of the companies that had an arrangement with Mr. Yakovlev and made 
illicit payments to him.83  On 12 July 2005, following Mr. Yakovlev’s instructions to 
transfer the money from Moxyco to Ekati Trading in an effort to conceal his illegal 
income, a payment of US$278,658 was made to Ekati Trading’s account at Hellenic 
Bank Ltd.84  Mr. Yakovlev confirmed that he ordered to transfer the balance of his 
Antigua Overseas Bank account when he became aware of the investigations against 
him.85 

                                                 
83 Alexander Yakovlev interview (28 September 2005); Ilya Kabachnik interview (22 February 2007).  Mr. 
Kabachnik is the Executive Director of Avicos.  Id. 
84 Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (12 July 2005). 
85 Alexander Yakovlev interview (28 September 2005). 
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2. Liechtensteinische Landesbank Bank Accounts 
45. The Task Force has established that Mr. Yakovlev either controlled or was 
associated with at least two accounts in Liechtenstein which he used to receive the 
proceeds of his fraudulent activities.86  Emails identified and obtained by the Task Force 
show that these accounts were held at Liechtensteinische Landesbank AG (Vaduz, 
Liechtenstein).87  It appears that Mr. Yakovlev was coordinating his financial activities 
with a bank employee, Mr. Bruno Vogt.88 

46. The Task Force has obtained information that as of the date of this Interim 
Report, the bank accounts associated with Mr. Yakovlev at Liechtensteinische 
Landesbank AG have been frozen, and are believed to contain at least several hundred 
thousand United States dollars as the proceeds of his illegal activities. 

3. HYPOSWISS Privatbank AG Account 
47. The Task Force has established that Mr. Yakovlev controlled at least one account 
in Switzerland, held at HYPOSWISS Privatbank AG, and used it to receive the proceeds 
of his fraudulent activities.89  The bank records show at least seven payments totaling 
over US$647,000 between February 2001 and January 2005 from Moxyco to an account 
in the name of Mrs. Yakovlev at HYPOSWISS Privatbank AG.90 

48. The Task Force has obtained information that, as of the date of this Report, the 
bank accounts associated with Mr. Yakovlev at HYPOSWISS Privatbank AG have been 
frozen, and are believed to contain at least several hundred thousand United States dollars 
illegally obtained by Mr. Yakovlev. 

4. Bank Austria Creditanstalt Account 
49. The Task Force has established that Mr. Yakovlev controlled at least one account 
in Austria which he used to store the proceeds of his fraudulent activities.91 

50. The bank records obtained by the Task Force show that there was at least one 
payment of US$150,400 from Moxyco into an account in the name of Mrs. Yakovlev in 

                                                 
86 Id.; Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 156-57 (27 February 2007); 
Bruno Vogt emails to Alexander Yakovlev (13 December 2004 and 14 and 16 February 2005) (discussing 
United States dollars account nos. 208.638.98 and 212.440.51).  It appears that account no. 212.440.51 was 
registered in the name of Angelus Finance Ltd. (British Virgin Islands).  Id. 
87 Id. 
88 Id. 
89 Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (April 2004 to January 2005) (showing transfers to 
account no. 77445 at HYPOSWISS Privatbank AG (Zurich, Switzerland)); Alexander Yakovlev interview 
(28 September 2005); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 156-57 (27 
February 2007). 
90 Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (April 2004 to January 2005). 
91 Alexander Yakovlev interview (28 September 2005); Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander 
Yakovlev testimony, pp. 156-57 (27 February 2007). 
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the Bank Austria Creditanstalt.92  When asked about this account, Mr. Yakovlev 
explained that when he made a transfer from Moxyco’s account to Bank Austria 
Creditanstalt, he was told that this Austrian bank would permit a transfer from such an 
off-shore account only once and warned him not to do it again.93 

51. Mr. Yakovlev subsequently transferred US$350,000 from his bank account in 
Switzerland to his bank account in Austria.94  He stated that his Austrian account was 
subsequently closed, and that he transferred the funds to his account in Liechtenstein.95 

5. Alexander and Olga Yakovlev UNFCU and Citibank 
Accounts 
52. Mr. Yakovlev transferred at least some of his illegal proceeds from Moxyco’s 
account at the Antigua Overseas Bank into Mr. and Mrs. Yakovlev’s personal accounts at 
the United Nations Federal Credit Union (“UNFCU”), and Citibank.  Specifically, in the 
period of June 2000 to August 2004, over US$218,000 was transferred into their account 
at UNFCU, and in the period of June 2000 to October 2001, over US$278,000 was 
transferred into their account at Citibank.96 

6. Olga Yakovlev European Trust Bank Account  
53. The Task Force has obtained forensically-recovered electronic data showing a 
transfer of €304,993 from Mr. Yakovlev to Mrs. Yakovlev’s account at the European 
Trust Bank (Moscow, Russia).  In his letter to a bank official, Mr. Yakovlev described 
the transfer as a “gift” to his wife.97 

                                                 
92 Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (29 April 2002) (showing a transfer to account no. 
501-84285300 at Bank Austria Creditanstalt). 
93 Alexander Yakovlev interview (28 September 2005). 
94 Id. 
95 Id. 
96 Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (June 2000 to July 2004) (showing transfers to account 
no. 429290 at UNFCU); Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (June 2000 to October 2001) 
(showing transfers to account no. 69351036 at Citibank). 
97 Alexander Yakovlev letter to European Trust Bank (11 September 2003) (discussing a transfer of 
€304,993 to Mrs. Yakovlev’s account no. 42301978300010000083 at the European Trust Bank (Moscow, 
Russia)). 
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Figure: Alexander Yakovlev letter to European Trust Bank (11 September 2003) 

54. Based on the timing of the transfer and other forensically-recovered data, it 
appears that these funds were used for the purchase of Mr. and Mrs. Yakovlev’s 
apartment in Moscow. 

D. VLADIMIR KUZNETSOV ROLE 
55. Shortly after he established Moxyco and began receiving payments from Volga-
Dnepr, Mr. Yakovlev told Mr. Kuznetsov, a close friend of fifteen years, that he had a 
“business on the side.”98  At that time, Mr. Kuznetsov served as the Chairman of the 
United Nations Advisory Committee and Administrative and Budgetary Questions and 
received a salary from the United Nations.99  According to Mr. Yakovlev, he made it 
known to Mr. Kuznetsov that he was receiving money for providing assistance to a 
number of companies.100  Mr. Yakovlev confirmed that Mr. Kuznetsov was aware of the 
origin of this money and the impropriety of Mr. Yakovlev’s actions, and was therefore 
aware of the need to obscure the transactions.101 

56. According to Mr. Yakovlev, upon learning this, Mr. Kuznetsov asked Mr. 
Yakovlev if he might “help him” financially.102  At that time, Mr. Kuznetsov owned 
apartments in Moscow, but wanted to build a house in a prestigious Moscow suburb.103  
Mr. Kuznetsov told Mr. Yakovlev that he planned to sell his Moscow apartments in order 
to pay him back, but for the time being he needed money for construction of his new 

                                                 
98 Alexander Yakovlev interview (16 and 17 August 2005). 
99 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 359 (28 February 2007). 
100 Alexander Yakovlev interview (16 and 17 August 2005). 
101 Id. 
102 Id.; Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 180 (27 February 2007). 
103 Id.; Alexander Yakovlev interview (16 and 17 August 2005). 
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house.104  Mr. Yakovlev agreed to loan Mr. Kuznetsov the money interest-free, and 
planned for Mr. Kuznetsov to repay him after he would sell his Moscow apartments.105 

57. As will be discussed below, the bank records confirm that Mr. Kuznetsov was 
aware of and actively participated in Mr. Yakovlev’s illegal scheme, since Nikal received 
several bank transfers into its account at the Antigua Overseas Bank from the same 
entities that made payments to Moxyco.  Mr. Kuznetsov was convicted of conspiring to 
commit money laundering on 7 March 2007 by a jury in the United States District Court, 
Southern District of New York.106 

1. Nikal Antigua Overseas Bank Account 
58. As was established at the trial of Mr. Kuznetsov, Mr. Yakovlev told Mr. 
Kuznetsov that he would also need to set up an offshore account into which Mr. 
Yakovlev could transfer money.107  Using Maritime Industries—the same company 
used by Mr. Yakovlev to form Moxyco—Mr. Kuznetsov established Nikal Ltd.108  
Nikal was incorporated on 25 April 2000 in Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, the very 
same place Moxyco was incorporated.109 

59. Nikal’s Board of Directors consisted of the same persons that appeared on 
Moxyco’s Board of Directors, including Ms. Mouck, who purportedly signed the Board 
of Directors’ meetings minutes.110  However, Ms. Mouck’s position was again 
ceremonial and lacked any actual authority.  Mrs. Natalia Kuznetsova, Mr. Kuznetsov’s 
wife, held the power of attorney and was authorized to “manage the business interests of 
Nikal.”111 

60. Similar to Moxyco, Nikal opened a bank account at the Antigua Overseas Bank, 
with Mrs. Kuznetsova as an authorized signatory on the account.112  Mrs. Kuznetsova, 
however, was merely a ceremonial figure because the account was effectively controlled 
by Mr. Kuznetsov.113  As was explained by Mr. Yakovlev, the reason they decided to 
have Moxyco and Nikal use same bank was to “minimize the exposure of the 
transfers”:114 

                                                 
104 Id. 
105 Id. 
106 Christine Kearney, “Russian U.N. diplomat guilty of money laundering,” Reuters, 7 March 2007. 
107 Id.; Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 194 (27 February 2007); 
Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 253 (28 February 2007). 
108 Alexander Yakovlev interview (16 and 17 August 2005). 
109 Certificate of Incorporation of Nikal Ltd. (25 April 2000).  As was explained by Mr. Yakovlev, the 
name “Nikal” was created by Mr. Kuznetsov combining the letters of his son’s and his daughter’s first 
names.  Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 361 (28 February 2007). 
110 Nikal Minutes of Meeting of the Board of Directors (26 April 2000). 
111 Nikal Power of Attorney (26 April 2000) (signed by Ms. Mouck). 
112 Nikal Appointment of Bankers (26 April 2000) (signed by Ms. Mouck); Natalia Kuznetsova Specimen 
Signature (6 May 2000); Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account documents (identifying Nikal’s bank 
account no. 11407245 at Antigua Overseas Bank). 
113 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, pp. 196-97 (27 February 2007). 
114 Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 253 (28 February 2007). 
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Figure: Vladimir Kuznetsov trial transcript, Alexander Yakovlev testimony, p. 253 (28 
February 2007) 

61. Between June 2000 and July 2005, over US$1.1 million was deposited into 
Nikal’s account from a number of sources, including at least US$220,000 from 
Moxyco.115  The amount of US$1.1 million included at least US$469,000 received 
directly from ICT USA, an entity associated with Volga-Dnepr, and at least US$59,000 
from Solitaire Nominees Ltd., an entity associated with Avicos.116  (See Chart A).  These 
same companies made payments to Moxyco.  Their role and arrangements with Mr. 
Yakovlev will be fully discussed in the forthcoming Final Report. 

2. Vladimir and Olga Kuznetsov UNFCU and Chase Manhattan 
Bank Accounts 
62. Based on the bank records, some of the financial assets obtained by Mr. 
Kuznetsov through Nikal were later transferred from Nikal’s account at the Antigua 
Overseas Bank into Mrs. Kuznetsova’s and Mr. Kuznetsov’s personal accounts at 
UNFCU and Chase Manhattan Bank. 

63. Specifically, in the period of December 2000 to July 2003, over US$209,000 was 
transferred from Nikal to Mrs. Kuznetsova’s account at UNFCU, and in the period of 
May 2001 to June 2003, over US$86,000 was transferred from Nikal to Mr. Kuznetsov’s 
account at UNFCU.117  Moreover, in the period of April 2000 to June 2000—around the 
time of Nikal’s incorporation—at least US$62,000 was transferred from Moxyco directly 
into Mr. Kuznetsov’s account at UNFCU.118 

64. Furthermore, in the period of July 2001 to January 2004, over US$110,000 was 
transferred from Nikal’s account into Mrs. Kuznetsova’s and Mr. Kuznetsov’s joint 
account at Chase Manhattan Bank.119  Additionally, on 29 March 2000, prior to 
establishment of Nikal, over US$20,000 was transferred from Moxyco directly into Mr. 
Kuznetsov’s account at Chase Manhattan Bank.120 

                                                 
115 Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account documents (June 2000 to July 2005). 
116 Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account documents (2 October 2000, 26 March, 11 June, 20 July, and 24 
August 2001). 
117 Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account records (December 2000 to July 2003) (showing transfers to 
account no. 374570 at UNFCU in the name of Mrs. Kuznetsova and account no. 374571 at UNFCU in the 
name of Mr. Kuznetsov). 
118 Antigua Overseas Bank, Moxyco account records (April to June 2000) (showing transfers to account no. 
347571 at UNFCU). 
119 Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account records (July 2001 to January 2004) (showing transfers to 
account no. 015-566854 at Chase Manhattan Bank). 
120 Antigua Overseas Bank, Nikal account records (29 March 2000) (showing one transfer to account no. 
015-240797 at Chase Manhattan Bank). 
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VI. RESTITUTION 
65. The United Nations is a victim of Mr. Yakovlev’s illegal and unethical schemes 
and as such, is fully entitled to restitution.  Further, the United Nations should seek to 
recoup the monies in the various accounts, through making direct requests of the national 
authorities in each of these jurisdictions, and through the criminal proceeding in the 
United States District Court, Southern District of New York.  A representative of the 
Liechtenstein Financial Investigations Unit has formally advised the Task Force, after 
consulting the Liechtenstein government, that the United Nations should join the criminal 
proceedings in Liechtenstein and advance its claim.  The United Nations should make 
similar requests of the various authorities in the other affected jurisdictions. 

66. At the sentencing of Mr. Yakovlev, the district court has the authority and ability 
to order restitution to any victims of the scheme.  It is axiomatic in the law that the 
Organisation which employs an official who then uses his or her official position to 
engage in corrupt activity with vendors doing business with the Organisation is a victim 
of these illegal acts, as its integrity and processes are compromised and the 
Organisation’s financial interests are directly affected.  The Organisation paid substantial 
amounts of money to the companies which obtained United Nations contracts by 
engaging in illegal arrangements with Mr. Yakovlev in direct violation of United Nations 
regulations and rules and corruptly and illegally paid Mr. Yakovlev for his efforts on 
their behalf. 

67. Under United States law, including the Victim and Witness Protection Act and the 
newly-enacted Crime Victims’ Rights Acts, a victim of an offense has a number of 
compensatory rights, including the right to seek reimbursement and restitution from the 
court via the Probation Office.121  In this case, as part of his agreement with the United 
States government, Mr. Yakovlev has agreed to forfeit US$900,000 to the United States 
government.  This money will be paid into the United States Treasury, unless otherwise 
directed.  In some circumstances, district courts recognize restitution in lieu of forfeiture, 
and will impose a restitution order for recovery of the funds, a forfeiture agreement 
notwithstanding.  The proceeds of Mr. Yakovlev’s activities should be ordered to be paid 
to the Organisation, and the proceeds of Mr. Yakovlev’s accounts transferred to the 
benefit of the United Nations.  In the estimation of the Task Force and based on the 
evidence introduced at the trial of Mr. Kuznetsov, this amount exceeds $3.5 million. 

VII. FINDINGS 
68. The Task Force finds that beginning in or about 1993, and continuing until Mr. 
Yakovlev’s arrest in 2005, Mr. Yakovlev, a former United Nations Procurement Officer, 
engaged in a corrupt scheme to solicit, and accept, sums of money and things of value 
from a number of United Nations vendors seeking to obtain United Nations contracts, 
including, but not limited to, Avicos, Cogim, and Volga-Dnepr, in exchange for 
                                                 
121 Victim and Witness Protection Act, 18 U.S.C. §3663-3664 (establishing the rules and procedures for 
orders of restitution); Crime Victims’ Rights Act, 18 U.S.C. §3771 (stating that “[a] crime victim has . . . 
[t]he right to full and timely restitution as provided by law”). 
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unlawfully and improperly providing these companies with assistance in the bidding and 
contract selection process.  These agreements were made and implemented by Mr. 
Yakovlev with the voluntary assistance of Mr. Kuznetsov and entities and individuals 
associated with them.  These payments compromised the integrity of the procurement 
process, and were made by these vendors and their representatives in direct violation of 
the United Nations rules and procedures and to the direct detriment of the Organisation. 

69. In summary, in the period of February 2000 to July 2005, Mr. Yakovlev, through 
Moxyco and Nikal, received a sum of at least US$3.5 million from a number of United 
Nations vendors, including Avicos, Cogim, and Volga-Dnepr.  These payments were 
made both directly by these vendors, as well as through a number of front companies.  
Furthermore, there is evidence that certain payments were made to Mr. Yakovlev in cash 
and into his other accounts, particularly in early 1990s, which will be addressed in the 
Final Report.  These additional payments will be discussed in greater detail in the 
upcoming Final Report on Mr. Yakovlev. 

70. The proceeds of Mr. Yakovlev’s illegal activities were disbursed into a number of 
bank accounts in the United States and Europe, including accounts at the Antigua 
Overseas Bank (Antigua and Barbuda), Bank Austria Creditanstalt (Austria), Chase 
Manhattan Bank (New York, USA), Citibank (New York, USA), Hellenic Bank Ltd. 
(Limassol, Cyprus), HYPOSWISS Privatbank AG (Zurich, Switzerland), 
Liechtensteinische Landesbank (Vaduz, Liechtenstein), and UNFCU (New York, USA).  

VIII. CONCLUSIONS 
71. By engaging in an illegal scheme to seek and obtain valuable United Nations 
contracts to the detriment of the Organisation, Mr. Yakovlev violated Staff Regulations 
1.2(b), 1.2(e), 1.2(g), 1.2(i), and 1.2(l), Financial Regulation 5.12, Financial Rule 105.14, 
and United Nations Procurement Manual Sections 4.1.5(4)(a), 4.2(1), and 4.2(2).  Mr. 
Yakovlev failed to act in the best interests of the Organisation, failed to uphold the 
highest standards of honesty, competence, integrity, and truthfulness, solicited and 
accepted illegal payments from a number of United Nations vendors, improperly assisted 
certain United Nations vendors in preparation of their contract proposals, and favored 
certain companies during the execution of their contracts to the detriment of the 
Organisation. 

72. The Task Force concludes that appropriate action should be taken by the 
Organisation to attempt to recoup the funds of the scheme, including asserting claims 
against the funds held at the various financial institutions for the benefit of Mr. Yakovlev, 
and asserting a claim with the United States District Court, Southern District of New 
York.  Further, the United Nations should seek to recover the proceeds of Mr. Yakovlev’s 
illegal activities under the common principles of criminal and civil liability, as well as the 
United Nations rules and regulations, including the Staff Rule 112.3, which states that 
“[a]ny staff member may be required to reimburse the United Nations either partially or 
in full for any financial loss suffered by the United Nations as a result of the staff 
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member’s negligence or of his or her having violated any regulation, rule or 
administrative instruction.”122 

73. The Task Force continues its investigation of the matters related to Mr. Yakovlev 
and will report shortly on the United Nations vendors, vendor representatives, 
consultants, and intermediaries engaged in illegal arrangements with Mr. Yakovlev.  The 
forthcoming Final Report will contain specific recommendations against the entities and 
individuals that had inappropriate arrangements and made illegal payments to Mr. 
Yakovlev and Mr. Kuznetsov. 

IX. RECOMMENDATIONS 
A. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R002/07/01 

74. The Task Force recommends that the Secretary-General request the Office of 
Legal Affairs to make efforts, through all available means, including legal process, to 
seek restitution from the perpetrators of the scheme, including Mr. Yakovlev and Mr. 
Kuznetsov, as well as the vendors identified herein, to recover the proceeds of the 
offense. 

75. In that regard, the Task Force recommends that the Office of Legal Affairs be 
directed to give notice to the United States District Court, Southern District of New York, 
as well as courts in Liechtenstein, Switzerland, and other relevant jurisdictions, of the 
Organization’s claim to the proceeds of the scheme in a total amount of at least US$3.5 
million.  In connection with the accounts in Liechtenstein, the Task Force has been 
specifically notified by the appropriate prosecutorial authorities of the need for the United 
Nations to enter the criminal court proceedings for its claims to be considered. In 
connection with the upcoming criminal sentencing proceedings of Mr. Yakovlev and Mr. 
Kuznetsov in United States District Court, Southern District of New York, it is clear that 
the Organisation must make an immediate claim for restitution in the amount of US$3.5 
million with the United States Probation Office, the court, and with the United States 
Attorney, prior to Mr. Kuznetsov’s and Mr. Yakovlev’s sentencing proceedings, to 
protect the rights and interests of the Organisation.  The United States Attorney, the 
Attorney General of Switzerland, the prosecutorial authorities of Liechtenstein, and other 
relevant authorities should be asked to consent to these requests, and in the case of the 
United States, the prosecutorial authorities should be requested to consent to the issuance 
of a restitution order for the benefit of the United Nations in lieu of forfeiture. 

B. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R002/07/02 
76. The Task Force recommends that the Secretary-General request the Office of 
Legal Affairs to take appropriate legal action on behalf of the Organisation to insure the 
recovery of the illicit proceeds of Mr. Yakovlev’s and Mr. Kuznetsov’s illegal activities, 

                                                 
122 ST/SGB/2002/1, rule 112.3 (1 January 2002). 
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which are maintained in a number of bank accounts in financial institutions associated 
with Mr. Yakovlev and Mr. Kuznetsov.  These accounts include: 

(i) Antigua Overseas Bank (Antigua and Barbuda): (a) account no. 11316945 
(in the name of Moxyco Ltd.), and (b) account no. 11407245 (in the name of Nikal Ltd.); 

(ii) Bank Austria Creditanstalt (Austria): account no. 501-84285300 (in the 
name of Mrs. Yakovlev); 

(iii) Chase Manhattan Bank (New York, USA): (a) account no. 015-566854 (in 
the name of Mr. and Mrs. Kuznetsov), and (b) account no. 015-240797 (in the name of 
Mr. Kuznetsov); 

(iv) Citibank (New York, USA): account no. 69351036 (in the name of Mrs. 
Yakovlev); 

(v) European Trust Bank (Moscow, Russia): account no. 
42301978300010000083 (in the name of Mrs. Yakovlev); 

(vi) Hellenic Bank Ltd. (Limassol, Cyprus): account no. 240-07-136343-01 (in 
the name of Ekati Trading Co. Ltd.); 

(vii) HYPOSWISS Privatbank AG (Zurich, Switzerland): account no. 77445 
(in the name of Mrs. Yakovlev); 

(viii) Liechtensteinische Landesbank (Vaduz, Liechtenstein): (a) account no. 
208.638.98 (in the names of Mr. and Mrs. Yakovlev), and (b) account no. 212.440.51 
(possibly in the name of Angelus Finance Ltd. (British Virgin Islands)); and 

(ix) UNFCU (New York, USA): (a) account nos. 374570 and 374571 (in the 
names of Mr. Kuznetsov and Mrs. Kuznetsova), and (b) account no. 429290 (in the 
names of Mr. and Mrs. Yakovlev). 

C. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R002/07/03 
77. The Task Force further recommends that the Secretary-General request the Office 
of Legal Affairs to seek appropriate legal action on behalf of the Organisation to recover 
all tangible and intangible assets which Mr. Kuznetsov and Mr. Yakovlev acquired from 
the proceeds of their illegal activities.  Such assets would include, inter alia, the real 
property obtained by Mr. Yakovlev and Mr. Kuznetsov, as well as Mr. Yakovlev’s motor 
vehicles acquired using the proceeds of his illegal activities. 


